Danehill Parish Historical Society                    


THE CHURCHES OF DANEHILL

by James Rawlings

It was not until 1835 that the first Church was built at Danehill. The site, which was then part of Danehill Green, had been given by the Earl of Sheffield, and is where the War Memorial now stands.

At that time Danehill did not exist as a separate parish and the new Holy Trinity Chapel was a chapel at ease to the parish Church of Fletching. A sum of £10 per annum being granted out of the revenue of that Church for the incumbent of Danehill, who was to be the Vicar of Fetching or one of his curates.
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In a petition, presented to the Bishop requesting the establishment of a new Chapel, it was stated “that the population of the District called Chelwood and Danehill, which forms the northern part of the parish is large and increasing, that the said District lies at such a distance from the parish Church at Fletching that the inhabitants thereof cannot without great inconvenience attend Divine Service”. Another reason, no doubt, was that a Strict Baptist Chapel had been erected in the Village in 1823, next to what is now Danehill Stores and would have attracted people away from the parish church.

                                     HOLY TRINITY CHAPEL
The foundation stone of the new Chapel was laid in 1835 by Harriett, Countess of Sheffield, and in the following year it was consecrated, together with the adjoining ground by the Bishop of Chichester.

The building was of red brick and unlike most Churches was built on a North - South axis. It consisted of a porch on the North end, a nave without aisles and a chancel at the South end.

In 1840 Warburton Davies, who owned the Woodgate estate a half mile North of the Village and his brother Francis, who owned the Danehurst estate a half mile South, were granted a faculty to each build a gallery for their own use in the new Chapel. These were fifteen feet long and four feet six inches wide and projected through the side walls, with their own staircases and entrances outside the Chapel. They cost £110 each to build. The Woodgate gallery was on the west, Freshfield Lane side, and the Danehurst gallery was on the east side. Under each gallery was a servants pew, and beneath, burial vaults for members of the family. Entry to vaults was under the floor within the Chapel.

The district continued to grow and on the 11th of March 1851 the ecclesiastical parish of Danehill was created out of the Northern part of Fletching, together with a smaller portion taken out of the eastern side of Horsted Keynes. The patron of the living was the Earl of Sheffield, who held the advowson of Fletching, and the first vicar to be appointed was the Rev. John Packer. He only stayed a year, however, and on the 5th of March 1852 the Rev. Thomas White Boyce was presented to the living. Coincidence with his appointment came the building of a Vicarage, a large house and garden designed by G. Wales, on the main road just south of the Village, now known as "Richard Bertram House". The site was given by Francis Davies and a. plaque in the entrance hall lists other subscribers as ;- The Earl of Sheffield, Hugh Hughes Esq (who has succeded Warburton Davies at Woodgate) W.C. Mabbott Esq of Danehill, R.W. Blencoe Esq of Chailey, The Rev. W. Plucknett of Horsted Keynes, and the Rev. J. Packer of Barbados. The latter presumably was the first vicar. There was also a grant from the Chichester Diocesian Association with assistance from Queen Anne's Bounty.

A few years later a substantial Coach house and stables were added.

The Rev. Boyce only remained at Danehill until 1856. There was then a succession of ' vicars (see appendix 1) until the Rev. Walter Summers was appointed on the 5th of March 1872. He was to remain here for forty-five years, dying at the age of eighty-four on the 14th October, 1917.

[image: image2.png]


The year after his arrival a vestry meeting decided that the grave yard next to Holy Trinity Chapel was insufficient and dangerous to health. A timely gift of an acre of land opposite the site of the present Church enabled a new burial ground to be set out. The donor was Charles Corbett Esq, who in January 1873 had bought Woodgate.

In 1879 the walls of the Chancel of Holy Trinity, were after the fashion of the time, match-boarded, stained and varnished. A gift of Herbert Carey Hardy who had purchased Danehurst in 1875 as a home for his bride. In 1888 he again made a generous gesture to the Church in paying for the repairs following a serious fire in November 1887, suggesting that the insurance money, which amounted to £380 8s.0d, should be set aside as a nucleus towards a fund for building a new Church. We do not know the extent of the fire, but from the amount of the insurance, a considerable sum in those days, it must have been quite serious. One clue comes from a painting of the Church done in 1880 showing what appears to be a small bell tower on the ridge of the roof in the centre of the nave. In a later photograph this has disappeared and has been replaced by a bell under a small roof, attached to the apex of the north gable of the nave. This addition bears the date 1889 suggesting that the fire could well have been serious enough to have damaged the roof.

Very soon after the fire, aged only forty, Mr. Hardy died as the result of an accident. Two years after his death, his widow offered to erect a new Church at Danehill in his memory. The dedication was to "All Saints" and the site chosen was just up the hill, looking down on the old Chapel. The foundation stone was laid in November 1891, by their eldest son Guy Charles Hardy, who had become patron of the living, and the Church was consecrated by the Bishops of Chichester on the 12th of August 1892.

The Church was built by Messrs. Rudd of Grantham from designs by G.F. Bodley, R.A., a very eminent Church architect, and his partner G.F. Garner; it cost approximately £12,000. The material used was sandstone from Scaynes Hill, with stone slabs on the roof. It consists of a Nave by a carved oak verandah screen; a Lady Chapel North and the Vestry South of the Choir; and, unusually, behind the latter a Sacristry. The style is a mixture of Decorated and Perpendicular, the latter being used in the large East window and the South Aisle and Porch. The North Aisle and porch, with the remaining windows, are Decorated. The roofs of the nave and aisles are of darkened oak with gilded carved bosses, whilst the roofs of the Chancel and side Chapel are decorated against a background of green and blue respectively and also have gilded bosses. Both have texts painted in Latin above the cornice, the translation of that in the chancel being “With angels and archangels, and with all the company of heaven we laud and magnify Thy glorious name evermore praising Thee and saying Holy, Holy, Holy, Heaven and earth are full of thy glory”; and that in the Chapel the first verses of the Magnificat. The choir stalls and pews are all in oak.

It was Mrs. Hardy's original wish that she would pay both for the building of the Church and for fitting it out. In the event, however, many of the fittings were provided by gifts and out of donations from parishioners, friends and neighbours. These included the windows, executed by a pupil of Bodley, C.E. Kempe of Lindfield, whose work can be seen in many Sussex churches. The font of black and white purbeck marble with a glorious carved oak cover in the form of a spire surmounted by an angel. The font and cover framed in the great tower arch, form the dominant feature of the South end of the Church. The cover, incidentally, was loaned to the Victoria and Albert Museum in 1972 for an exhibition of Victorian Church Art. The organ, presented by E. Wormald of Chelwood Beacon is by "Wordsworth" of Leeds. It stands on the Rood Screen, and, with the absence of a Chancel arch, looks down on both the choir and the nave.

The Church has continued over the years to be enriched with new fittings and memorials. These included a peal of four bells (see appendix 2) fitted in the west tower in 1897/8. They were supplied by John Taylor and Company of Loughborough at a cost of £245 10s. 4d. which included an allowance of £5 for an old small bell, possibly the one from Holy Trinity. Two further bells were added to the peal in 1958, the gift of the Hardy family in memory of Herbert Ronald Hardy.

A clock installed in the North face of the tower in 1898. It has an eight day gun-metal dead beat escapement and was supplied by John Moore and Sons of Clerkenwell at a cost of £121 13s. d. Originally it had a four feet six inches octagonal oak dial which has been replaced by a round metal one.

The figure of the Good Shepherd in the niche over the South porch added in 1907 in memory of Fanny Jessop, for many years a faithful friend and servant of the Hardy family at Danehurst. The subject was suggested by Bodley and executed by Laurence Taylor.

The Calvary War Memorial, executed in wood from a design of Messrs. Bodley and Hare, put up under the screen in 1920.

The ornamental iron railings behind the organist made by George Etherton, Senior in 1922. Mr. Etherton was the blacksmith at Danehill and well known for his ornamental iron-work. His two sons, George and Edmund Etherton were responsible for the George the 5th Memorial iron gates at the entrance in Church Lane.

The beautiful Triptych and Reredos designed by Sir Ninian Comper was erected in 1935. It bears the inscription “In memory of Adela Louisa Cassandra Hardy who built this Church as a memorial to her husband, this. reredos is dedicated by her children Anno Dmi 1935 Matri Delectae Posteri Gratissimi”

The carved oak communion rails, designed by F.C. Eden and G. Cogswell, given in 1938 by Mr. and Mrs. Haslam of Danehurst to commemorate "Twenty-five years of perfect married love".

The doors to the South porch given in 1975 in memory of the daughters of Herbert and Louisa Hardy by their Nephews and Nieces.

When the Church was first built it was lit by candles, as it was the architect's view that oil lamps, though giving more light, would not harmonise with the architectural features of the church as well as candles. However, candles were found to be inadequate and in 1909 they were replaced by ten Messrs. Wippells oil “lluminator Lamps”: two on brackets in each aisle, four on standards in the centre aisle and two on brackets in the choir. The oil lamps in their turn were replaced by electric lighting in November 1934, itself to be replaced and rewired in 1970.

The first heating was by a hot air furnace manufactured by G.N. Harden and Sons of London, which also heated hot water supplied to large pipes running along the walls of the side aisles. The furnace failed in 1917, and owing to the war, the church had to rely on eight oil heaters for the next eighteen months before a new hot water system could be installed, itself to be converted to oil in the late 1950's.

Following the erection of the new church, Holy Trinity Chapel was pulled down in 1893, the work being done by J. Luxford, builder of Forest Row. Except for the font, holy table, monuments and gravestones, the materials were sold and the proceeds used to level and make good the site. At about the same time three cottages which stood behind the Chapel were demolished, to give the fine view we now have of the Church.

Following the death of the Rev. Summers in 1917, the Rev. F. de W Lushington was appointed, but he only remained a few years and was followed by the Rev. F.E. Coope. It was during his Ministry during the early 1920's that the patronage of the living was purchased by "The Church Association and National Protestant League" now known as "The Church Society Trust".

Our next vicar the Rev. H.E. Stuart was only here for two years and was succeeded by Major The Rev. H.F.C. Kempe, M.C. who had served as a regular officer in the Royal Field Artillery. He came when the feelings of the parishioners towards the Church were at a low ebb, but by his tact and energy soon helped to fill the Church again. He will be remembered for starting a most successful young persons' Club in the village and also for the original drawing from which the cover of this magazine was taken: having been used from March 1936 for a number of years as the cover of the Parish Magazine.

It was during his Ministry in 1939, that the old vicarage, which was too large for modern use, was sold and the present vicarage, formerly known as “The Firs” was purchased.

On the 14th of October 1940 one of a stick of bombs fell on the burial ground. The parish magazine, reporting the incident, notes that the squad of village men who restored order out of chaos were encouraged by thirty-six pints of beer placed at their disposal.

In August 1941 the Rev. Kempe left Danehill to become the Vicar of Cuckfield. In his place came the Rev.P.G.P. Cornish who, from 1956, was also Rural Dean of Uckfield. In 1949 the ravages of time was such that it was necessary to carry out extensive repairs to the Church with the inevitable appeal to raise the necessary funds. It is sad to think that thirty-three years later we are again faced with the same problem. However, if the past is any guide, I am sure the village will rise to the occasion and ensure that our beautiful Church is fit to hand on to the new generation.

‑‑‑‑‑‑ 000‑‑‑

My sources for this article have principally been:-

(1) Episcopal Archives in the West Sussex Record Office. (2) Danehill Parish Magazines.

(3)The Registers and other parish documents kindly made available to me by the vicar of Danehill, the Rev. David Markham.

Appendix 1

VICARS OF DANEHILL

John Packer
1851‑1852

Thomas White Boyce
1852‑1855

Thomas Bell
1856‑1860

Robert John shaw
1860‑1868

William Battersby
1869

Edward James Warmington
1871

Walter Summers
1872‑1917

F de W. Lushington
1918‑1921

F.E. Coope
1921‑1929

H.E. Stuart
1930‑1932

H.F.C. Kempe
1933‑1941

W.A. Pearson
1941‑1943

P.G.P. Cornish
1944‑1959

lan Paton Hunter
1960‑1967

Mark Russell
1967‑1977

David C. Markham
1978‑Priest In Charge.

NEEDS UPDATING

‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑‑​

Appendix 2

BELLS AT ALL SAINTS DANEHILL.


Inscription
weight

When hung

Treble
Arme de Foi Hardy
cwt 
qr
lbs
1958

Second
Vox Clare Ecce Intonat



1958

Third
Venite Adoremus



1898

Fourth
Regen Regum Dominum
5-
2
-17
1898

Fifth
Regen Martyrum Dominum
6-
3
-0
1898

Tenor
Venite Adoremus
7-
3-
-5
1898

-----ooOoo-----

FUNERAL OF MR. HARDY, OF DANEHURST.

“The obsequies of Herbert Carey Hardy, Esq., of Danehurst, were celebrated on Saturday, when the funeral service was held at Danehill Church, and the internment took place at the cemetery thereto, amidst general demonstration of respect and sorrow. The circumstances under which the esteemed and lamented squire of Danehurst met with the accident which brought to an abrupt termination of a most useful and honourable life have already been noticed in these columns, and, therefore, there are very few details connected with the melancholy event calling for further comment. The accident, it appears, was caused by tripping over a dog chain when Mr. Hardy was about to alight from a trap, in which he had been driving with his son, and the fracture of the leg consequent upon the fall was so severe that amputation had to be resorted to. This was successfully performed but the sufferer did not rally, and expired, surrounded by his wife and family, on Saturday evening, the 11th of August, within six hours of the completion of the 40th year of his age, he having been born on August 12th 1848. Thus, in a few short hours, was the house at Kinveachy, in the county of Inverness, where Mr. Hardy had extensive shootings, converted into a place of mourning, 
where just previously all had been bustle and preparation for the birthday of the squire, and the reception of friends who were coming down for the opening of the shooting season. Mr. Hardy leaves a widow - the daughter of Mr. Knight of Chawton House, near Alton, Hants, where the family have been seated for centuries -and a family of eight children, all of which are of tender years.

The body, enclosed in a coffin of polished oak, with massive Gothic furniture, and breast-plate, simply recording the name of the deceased gentleman, and the dates of his birth and death, arrived by train at Sheffield Park station at two o'clock on Friday, it having been brought by railway from Boat of Garten station, Inverness. A hearse was in waiting to receive the coffin, which, on reaching Danehurst, was placed on a bier in the library, which had been transformed into a “chapelle ardente”. The end and each side of the room were banked with majestic ferns and fine foliaged plants in pot, relieved by choice exotic flowers. The coffin and its supports were completely covered with splendid wreaths and crosses of flowers, numbering nearly a hundred, and sent from all parts of the country. At the head of the coffin was placed a crucifix of alabaster and candelabra of seven lights, the candles of which were kept burning throughout the night. Contributions of plants and flowers were kindly sent from the hothouses and conservatories of the Earl of Sheffield, at Sheffield Park; Sir Spencer Maryon Wilson, of Searles; Mr. Wormald, of Red House; and Mr. Chatterton of Birch Grove. The funeral took place shortly after noon on Saturday, the arrangements being of a very simple and unostentatious character. The coffin, which was almost concealed by the wealth of flowers placed upon it, was born on a hand-bier and work-men employed on the estate, all of whom wore white gabardines, or, as they are better known in Sussex “'smock-frocks”. All of the relatives, personal friends, tenants, servants and cottagers walked on foot, except the ladies of the family, who went to church in private carriages. The procession was a very long one, and its progress was watched with melancholy interest by the people who had assembled in the neighbourhood of the church.

Those who took part in the funeral procession from the house were-

Mrs. H.C. Hardy, Master Guy Hardy (eldest son) Mr. Charles Hardy of Chilham Castle, Kent (brother). Miss Adela Hardy (eldest daughter) and the head nurse, Mrs. Jessop. Mr. and Mrs. Montague Knight, Major and Mrs. Rice. Mr. and Mrs. Worsley, Sir Edward and Lady Bradford. Major Henry Knight and Captain Brodnax Knight, Mr. Arthur Smith. Mr. Montague Bradford. Viscount Cranbrook (Lord President of the Council) and the Hon. J. Stewart Gathorne-Hardy, M. P. Mr. Lawrence Hardy and Mr. Evelyn Bradford. Mr. Spencer Portal; the Misses Carey Borrer. Mr. Fryer (house steward) and Mrs. Harnett (house-keeper). The Household Servants at Danehurst. Mr. Coombe (farm steward), Mrs. Coombs and family. The Tenants:- Messrs. T. Knight (Cockhainse) Comber (Cockhaise Mill) D. Bates (Latchetts) Wood (Woodsland) Osborne (Town Place) W. Wood (Danehill) Wickens (Tremaines) S. Cherryman (Oak) S. Baker (Portmansford) Luckens (Butcher's Barn) & &.

The mournful cortege was met at the churchyard gates by the following clergy, who wore the white surplices of their holy office:- The Rev. Prebendary Carey Borrer (treasurer of the diocese of Chichester and rector of Hurstpierpoint) the Rev. F.R. Hepburn (rector of Chailey and rural dean) the Rev. W. F. Attenborough (vicar of Fletching) the Rev. W. Summers (vicar of Danehill) the Rev. H.J. Peckham (incumbent of Nutley) and the Rev. F. Willett (Scaynes Hill).

Among the numerous assembly who awaited the arrival of the body at the church we observed - (here follows a long list of local dignitaries, representatives of local societies and people from Danehill and neighbouring villages). .... “It is estimated that the attendance of all classes exceeded a thousand persons”.

(There follows a description of the service which was taken by the Rev. Summers, the lesson read by the rector of Chailey and the service at the grave-side by the Rev. Prebendary Carey Borrer) .

'The floral contributions of loving relatives and friends, and from the public bodies, were indeed very beautiful and numerous.   Included among them were offerings from the Conservative Association of Danehill, Lewes, Uckfield, East Grinstead and Haywards Heath: From the committee of Danehill Horticultural Society, the Horsted Keynes Cricket Club, the cottagers of Danehill, the tenants and the school children'. 

Masters Herbert and Gerald Summers sent a wreath “With love to their dear god-father”.

Mr. Coombs (the bailiff of Danehurst) Mrs. Cunnington (the late keeper's widow) the household servants, the coachman, Mr. Stevens and his wife, the keepers and gardeners of Danehurst, and many other humble friends who have lost a kind considerate master, and a generous thoughtful friend.
-----ooOoo-----

(Extract from newspaper of All Saints Day, November 1st 1891) 
THE NEW CHURCH AT DANEHILL.

The Foundation Stone laid by Mr. Guy Charles Hardy.

“A memorable stage in the building of the beautiful new church at Danehill was reached on Saturday last, when the dedication stone was laid by Mr. Guy Charles Hardy, the eldest son of the lady who erects this church in pious memory of her husband, the late Herbert Carey Hardy, Esq., of Danehurst. The stone was laid in the presence of the venerable Lord Bishop of Chichester, the Archdeacon of Lewes, and the clergy of the district, and among the large congregation at the service attending the ceremony were Mrs. Hardy and her charming family of nine children, the youngest of which was born shortly after the lamented death, from accident, of her father, whose loss plunged a wide district in sorrow. Also present were Mr. Charles Stewart Hardy of Chilham Castle, Kent, brother to the gentleman to whose memory the church is building; and the churchwardens, Mr. Edward Wormald of Chelwood Beacon, and Mr. Thomas Chatfield, and other leading residents of the parish” 

(Description of the district of Danehill and of the service of dedication follows)

“The 84th Psalm having been sung, followed by prayer, Mr. Edward Wormald, on behalf of the parish, presented to Mr. Guy Hardy a handsome silver trowel with an ivory handle . . . . . . . In a receptacle beneath the foundation stone was placed, with other mementos, a parchment document, recording that the church was built "to the glory of God, and in memory of Herbert Carey Hardy.

Mr. Guy Hardy having, with the assistance of the builder duly laid the stone, said, in a firm, clear voice,

“In the faith of Jesus Christ we place this foundation stone, in the name of God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Ghost.”
-----ooOoo-----

(Extract of Newspaper report 12th of August 1892 )
CONSECRATION OF THE NEW MEMORIAL CHURCH AT DANEHILL.

The Ceremony of Consecration.

“The consecration service was fixed for eleven o'clock in the morning, but before that hour the church was crowded with a very fashionable congregation; indeed it seemed that all classes for miles around must have made a special effort to be present to witness the dedication of the beautiful structure to God's holy worship. The seating capacity was tested to the utmost; chairs had to be placed in the aisles and many there had to content themselves with standing room. The, service took the usual form of prayer and ceremonies used at the consecration of churches throughout the diocese. Shortly after eleven o'clock the Bishop of Chichester was met at the door by the clergy and choir, and as the procession moved towards the chancel the “Praise ye Lord ye heavens adore Him” was sung by the surpliced choir (under the conductorship of Mr. Harris) which was augmented for the occasion by choristers from adjoining parishes. The venerable Bishop was attended by the Rev. Treasurer Borrer, rector of Hurstpierpoint, who carried the pastoral staff, and Mr. E.C. Currey of Lewes, who acted as chancellor in the several legal duties of the ceremony. Included in the procession were Mr. E. Wormold and Mr. T. Chatfield, the churchwarden and the following clergy' (a long list of clergy follows including the Rev. Walter Summers, vicar of Danehill) . . . . . . . . Mr. Austin Leigh presided at the organ. . . . . a collection was made in aid of the fund for providing a peal of bells for the Church. 

At the end of the Communion Service, the sermon was preached by the Bishop who selected for his text a part of the 22nd verse of the 21st chapter of the book of the Revelation of St. John “I saw the temple therein 

“The Chancellor afterwards read the sentence of consecration, which was signed by the Bishop, who concluded the service by pronouncing the blessing”.

“The Bishop and clergy and a large number of the local ladies and gentlemen were in the afternoon entertained at luncheon by Mrs. Hardy, in a marquee on the lawn at Dane​hurst. The proceedings were quite of a social character. and no toasts were proposed. In another marquee the chur​ch choir, and other officials and friends were entertained, after which a game of cricket was indulged in. The workmen who had been employed in the building of the church were not forgotten, and in the evening they sat down to a bountiful repast and spent a very pleasant time”.

The above extracts are taken from newspaper cuttings which belonged to Mr. Horace Chatfield, late of Portmansford Farm, Furner's Green. Mr. Chatfield was a churchwarden between 1907-11 and 1918-1940 and greatly loved and respected in Danehill Parish. He died on January 1st 1941 aged 81 years. Horace Chatfield was christened at the "Holy Trinity" Chapel, Danehill on July the 11th 1859. He was a son of Hannah and Thomas Chatfield, Farmer of Sliders Farm (who at the christening of another child eight years previously is described as 'Wheelwright, Furner’s Green). Thomas Chatfield died at the age of 80 at “Penfold Cottage” and was buried in “All Saints” churchyard on the 29th July 1904. He had been the Parish Churchwarden for thirty years. The newspaper cuttings were given to the Society by his grandson Mr. G. Chatfield of Lewes.
-----ooOoo-----

SOME FEATURES OF DANEHILL CHURCH.

By Derek Rawlings
From Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine  Vol.6 No. 3, Feb. 1999.

1. The Font.

The Font, especially its wonderful oak cover, is one of the dominant features of the west end of the church. Made of Purbeck marble, it consists of an eight sided black bowl raised on eight white shafts, standing on an octagonal black plinth, the whole originally resting on three steps. The lower portion of the cover is a tower ending in a fretted parapet, out of which rises a panelled eight sided steeple surmounted by an angel. The tower has two doors with elaborate metal hinges. The larger one at the front opens to give access to the bowl, whist a smaller one at the back provides a view for the congregation behind. Inside the tower there is a vaulted ceiling with carved decoration.
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It was the gift of the parishioners to the new church when it was built in 1892 and eighty years later the cover was thought to be of sufficient quality to be lent to the Victoria and Albert Museum for an exhibition of Victorian church art. (see postcard c 1920 on front cover)

Originally it was intended to be traditionally sited at the back of the church by the south door. In fact it was placed under the tower where, with dramatic effect, it was framed by the massive tower arch when seen from the east end.

When the west end of the church was recently enclosed with a glass screen to provide a church room, it was necessary to move the font to its present position in front of the north door and to remove the bottom step in order to fit into the space available. It is now the first feature you see when entering by the south door and its dramatic effect is enhanced when illuminated by a spotlight.

From Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine  Vol.6 No. 4, May 1999.

The Stained Glass.

The fifteen stained glass windows at All Saints, Danehill, are one of the best features of the church. They all came from the same workshop and followed the original plan, that they should depict the life of our Lord and the apostles, saints and martyrs who carried on his work. The north windows have biblical scenes whilst those in the south and west have figures. Notice how the plinths on which the latter stand are drawn. Some give the impression that you are looking down on the scene, whilst with others it is upwards. The artist was C.E.Kempe, one of the best stained glass designers of his time, who lived a few miles away at Lindfield and his assistant and successor Tower. Of the nine windows that were put in when the church was built in 1892, only the great east window has Kempe's mark, which was three wheat sheafs. In two of his three later windows there is a single wheat sheaf, whilst the three made by Tower have a small chess like tower. Find them if you can, some are obvious but others need a little luck and patience.

Each window has a plaque in the bottom right hand corner giving the name of the donor and the person commemorated. The nine original windows are all dedicated to Herbert Carey Hardy, in whose memory the church was built and were given by the Hardy family, their relations, friends and neighbours. Five of the later windows are dedicated to members of the Hardy family and were given by their relations, whilst the central window in the south aisle is to the memory of Marian Bishopp Summers, wife of The Rev. Walter Summers, vicar of Danehill from 1872 to 1917.

The east window, above the altar, is the largest in the church. The central light shows the crucifixion with the Virgin Mary and St John, one on either side. The fine draughtsmanship of the figures and their beautiful faces are characteristic of Kempe's work, as are the cascades of colours in the outer lights. Below the crucifixion is Christ preaching to the dead in hell, among whom can be seen Adam and Eve, Moses, David and the penitent thief. In the four side lights are St Richard de Wych of Chichester, our bishop from 1244 to 1253, St Peter, St Paul and St Wilfred of York, who lived in the seventh century and, when temporarily deprived of his see of York, came to Sussex to preach Christianity to its inhabitants. In the tracery above the central light are two shields displaying the arms of Hardy (left) and Knight (right). Herbert Carey Hardy had married Adela Knight, who was the granddaughter of the novelist Jane Austen's brother, Edward Knight of Chawton in Hampshire, who had changed his name from Austin under the will of a cousin whose estates he had inherited. At the very top of the window can just be made out Kempe's mark of three wheat sheafs.

The window to the south of the altar shows St Michael and All Angels, the former trampling on a dragon to signify victory over the devil. The window on the north side represents Christ appearing to Mary Magdalene in the garden outside the empty tomb. At first she did not recognise him but, when he called her Mary, "She turned herself, and saith unto him Rabboni!'; which is to say, Master." Jesus saith unto her, "Touch me not (Noli me tangere); for 1 am not yet ascended to my Father." John 20, v 16 & 17.

Going into the Lady Chapel you have before you the east window representing the nativity. The Virgin Mary sits with the baby Jesus on her lap holding his toe and is surrounded by a host of rejoicing angels. The use of peacock feathers as decoration in this window is another feature of Kempe's Work. Above the canopy over the Virgin is a small piece of incongruous bright blue glass. It was a repair made to damage caused by a German bomb, which fell in the burial ground just behind and to the north of the lych gate, on the 14th October 1940. It was last one of a stick, the previous one having fallen in Freshfield Lane, luckily causing no casualties. War time restrictions made it impossible to obtain the proper glass and now, sixty years later, it is a small reminder of those dangerous days.

The east window on the north wall of the chapel is in memory of Herbert Edward Hardy, second son of Herbert Carey Hardy, who died in 1896. It depicts Christ, aged twelve, with the doctors in the temple at Jerusalem. This was the first window to be added after the church was built and does not have Kempe's mark, presumably because so little time had elapsed. The window next to it is in memory of his eldest brother Guy Charles Hardy and his sister Adela Gertrude Catherine Wood. It illustrates the song and blessing of Simeon. The baby Christ is held in Simeon's arms and the scroll gives in Latin the first four words of the song of Simeon, "Nunc demittis servus tua" (Luke 2 v 29).

The small window along side the arch leading into the chapel, represents St Christopher carrying the Christ Child and was given in memory of Montagu George Knight. He was brother to Adela Hardy and had married Herbert Carey Hardy's sister Florence, thus doubling the union between the two families.

In the north aisle the window next to the Lady Chapel depicts the resurrection. It shows the women at the empty sepulchre with the two men in shining garments. The scroll, "non est hic surrexit” is taken from Luke 24 verse 6 "He is not here but is risen", The dedication is to the memory of Guy Hardy, also commemorated by a window in the Lady Chapel, who died in 1904 and is buried in Florida. Unusually there is a photograph of the grave incorporated in the window. His brother Ronald Montagu, is commemorated by the next window depicting the transfiguration of Christ It is by Tower and his mark can be found in the tracery. Ronald Montagu Hardy was killed in the Great War and is also commemorated by the statuette at the entrance to the Lady Chapel.

In the south aisle there are three stained glass windows. The one in the vestry lobby represents St Cecilia, patron saint of music, crowned with roses and with an angel playing an organ at her feet. Fittingly the window is in line with the organ on the screen.

The next window, a gift of the parishioners, represents St Edward the Confessor, St Augustine of Canterbury and St Pancras, three saints from different stations in life, king, bishop and peasant. The scroll 1n rnemoria eterna erit justus" translates "as the righteous shall be in everlasting remembrance," (Psalm 112 v 6).

The third window depicts St Mary flanked by Saints John and Stephen, It was given in memory of Marian Bishopp Summers, wife of The Rev. Walter Summers, who died on St Stephen's day, the 26th December, 1913. The scroll above The Virgin is the opening words of the Magnificat, Wagnificat Animus Mea Dominum". "My soul doth magnify the Lord.

Behind the glass wall at the back of the church are three more windows. The two outer ones, both of two lights, depict the four Latin fathers who compiled a great part of the liturgy and the articles of the Christian faith. On the south side are St Jerome and St Gregory and the north St Ambrose and St Augustine of Hippo. Under the tower is another two light window representing the Annunciation. The Virgin Mary listens to the message from the Archangel Gabriel. This window was the gift of Fanny Jessop, for many years a faithful friend and servant of the Hardy family.

-----ooOoo-----

From “ All Saints’, Danehill with Chelwood Gate. Occasional Paper” No. 1  January 1945. 

THE PARISH CHURCH OF DANE HILL, SUSSEX.

Note by the Vicar: The Rev. P.G.P. Cornish: 
The writer 
of the folioing short account is an elderly dabbler in Gothic Architecture. He has been through and through all Counties He has seen seen all the Cathedrals in England and Wales and virtually all of the fine churches. His impressions may be of interest therefore.
Sussex seems to me to be the loveliest of all English Counties - surpassing, on the whole, even the Lake District of Westmoreland. The sublime scenery of the neighbourhood of Dane Hill (especially in the Autumn) is most inspiring,

The great glory of Dane Hill is its Parish Church - set upon a hill. At first sight one exclaims “Surely a Bodley masterpiece” And so it proves to be. '

The Church is frankly modern, and yet pure Gothic. This in itself is a proof of excellence. G. F. Bodley, R.A. (who, with his partner, the late Mr. Garner, built it), was a Royal Academician and a foremost Church architect of the Gothic Revival. 
Here is one of his greatest works - vying  with his own, fine Cruciform Church of Hoar Cross, Staffordshire as a model of' what is a perfect VILLAGE Church should be.
There is a distinct Sussex feeling about the exterior, and every detail (even to the smallest) is thought out.

The style is late decorated (circa A.D. 1350), but the Church is no "museum piece.”' The window tracery is pure Bodley and the tower is a very fine piece of work. The glass is most lovely - apparently by Kempe, and/or Clayton and Bell. It is as good as (or better than) much glass. There is no pitch-pine woodwork inside. All good English oak.


String courses, roofs, bosses and all details are the very best, and details even where hard to see are all equally excellent. Quite a mediaeval touch this! One can try and try again, but he cannot discover a fault in this lovely building.

Details never obscure the main idea, which is beauty of line and proportion. There is only one criticism to offer.

The “Rood-loft” is fine. The external turret breaks the line of roof well. But why, O why, place the organ over the screen? I know some Cathedrals have it so, and, notably at Exeter, it adds to the beauty of an unrivalled interior. But this is, a moderate sized Parish Church. I am told that there are some precedents, (notably, in Germany) for LARGE Parish Churches to have organs so placed. But these churches were also monastic (their choirs were) and over the pulpitum i.e., screen an organ placed and a parish altar erected to West of it. The organ served both nave and choir. But Danehill is small and entirely parochial. Obviously there is no parallel in this case. Further, an organ symbolically signifies nothing. A rood-screen is significant for a Rood (with attendant Figures) or a plain cross, as at Chichester Cathedral, and who can deny the extreme symbolism of such an arrangement. 

However, the organ ease is excellent and harmonises well with the other fittings of the Church. In the Churchyard is a fine replica of a Village Cross in stone. 
Altogether a Church both to see and appreciate.

Geo. H. Freeland. (1945)
-----ooOoo-----

Notes by Dr. Adrian Barlow, of the Kempe Society, following his visit to Danehill and his talk in All Saints Church on June 2nd 2004

BODLEY AND KEMPE AT ALL SAINTS, DANEHILL

All Saints, Danehill, is unusual in having such a beautiful and arresting setting; it is distinguished in being one of the finest village churches built by a great Victorian architect at the height of his powers and reputation; and it is unique in the extent of the collaboration between architect and stained glass designer. No other Bodley church in the world (and his work stretches from the National Cathedral in Washington DC to Hobart Cathedral in Tasmania) has more windows from the studios of Charles Eamer Kempe (whose glass can be seen even further afield than Bodley’s buildings – in Christchurch, New Zealand).

 George Frederick Bodley (1827-1907) and Kempe (1837-1907) both grew up in Brighton; Bodley’s father was the Kempe family doctor. Kempe first studied church architecture and decoration under Bodley before deciding to concentrate on stained glass. One of the first churches where they were both involved was Cuckfield, which Bodley restored at the start of his career in the 1850s and where the painted roof is one of Kempe’s earliest and greatest achievements. By the time Bodley was commissioned to build All Saints, he was the leading church architect of his day and Kempe, the leading stained glass designer. Their styles harmonized exceptionally well, and it is no accident that two other major commissions that overlapped with Danehill, Clumber Chapel (Nottinghamshire); now owned by the National Trust) and the Chapel of Queens’ College Cambridge should also have seen Bodley and Kempe working closely together. 

The beauty and atmosphere of All Saints owes much to their vision. Three examples will serve. The East window has tracery designed by Bodley in a way that looks familiarly Perpendicular (late 14th. century) but is completely original. Bodley was never content merely to copy. No window of that period has a central light that rises sheer through the tracery to the apex of the arch. And this unique design allows Kempe to place the crucifixion in dramatic isolation, above the figures of saints and bishops and, literally, above hell where Christ is seen preaching to the souls of the departed, including Adam and Eve. In other such windows the crucifixion (Christ on the cross attended by the Virgin and St John) would have been surrounded by apostles and martyrs. Bodley’s design of the tracery and Kempe’s design of the glass create a focal point for the church, an East window that is both traditional and startlingly original.

Bodley was also famous for his organ cases. Danehill’s is a fine but modest one, beautifully painted, and highly unusual in being placed on top of the screen. How often have you seen an organ is such a position, except in a cathedral? Bodley had just placed one on a screen at the west end of a chapel (Queens’ Cambridge, 1891). Now at Danehill he adapts a rood loft into an organ loft – and the organ fills the space under the chancel arch very effectively. Placed here, the organ case emphasizes the division between nave and chancel – a division already established by the transition from open pitched roof for the nave to painted barrel vault (Bodley’s favourite style of roof) over the chancel and sanctuary. And having seen how effective an organ could be in this position, Bodley repeated the effect shortly afterwards in his great church for the Cowley Fathers, St John the Evangelist in Oxford, which again has fine stained glass by Kempe.

Bodley and Kempe would be gratified to see how faithfully generations of congregations at Danehill have preserved their design and decoration of the church, though the original altar frontals have disappeared. They would have approved the choice of Sir Ninian Comper, who had studied with both of them at the start of his career, to provide the reredos behind the high altar. Only the moving of the font from under the tower represents a major, if understandable, reordering. But this allows a visitor to look all the more closely at the beautiful glass in the tower’s west wall. It is a simple Annunciation, with Gabriel arriving to greet Mary who, startled, half turns to confront her visitor and her destiny. Both figures (derived from the same cartoons used by the Kempe Studios for the famous East window of Little St. Mary’s Church in Cambridge) deserve close study. The expressions of each face, the clothes each figure wears, the colour of their robes and of Gabriel’s wings: all these are hall marks of Kempe glass. The painting of each figure should be attributed to Alfred Tombleson, a remarkable artist who was Kempe’s master glass painter.

In only three years (2007) it will be time to mark the centenary of both Kempe and Bodley. Both men were in their way eminent Victorians, whose legacy deserves to be better known. Kempe is commemorated with a fine but hidden memorial in Chichester Cathedral; Bodley is buried in an obscure Herefordshire churchyard. All Saints Danehill, in their native Sussex, uniquely embodying and faithfully preserving the essential character of their work, would be a fitting place to launch such a celebration. 

Adrian Barlow

June 2004

-----ooOoo-----

From Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine Vol. 6 No. 1

FROM DENNE TO DANEHILL VIA CALCUTTA??
By Philip Lucas

The story of the development of Danehill, the creation of an Ecclesiastical and later a Civil Parish, may well have been influenced by events taking place on distant shores. The French Revolution, the East India Company and the family of Jane Austen making contributions.

The Danes had nothing to do with the origin of the place name; an early reference to the area is the Half Hundred of "Denne", it was from the hill on Denne common that our parish takes its name. The area we now know as Danehill was partly in the parish of Fletching and partly in Horsted Keynes and in the Hundred of Rushmonden, our Denne was joined to Riston a neighbourhood hundred. (1)
In earlier times this well wooded landscape with smallish holdings each of about thirty acres, some grouped together, was not densely populated, the small farms supported the owners and his family. Iron working in the 16th and 17th centuries brought about many changes. This industry depended on ore, wood for charcoal, and water to power the hammers. Many local roads and trackways owe their origin to the time when there was an industrial area, providing the wealth to build some of our fine old farmhouses. The Weald had a diverse economy with timber always providing employment and wealth.

Edward Phillips, an iron master, owned a number of properties in the area; his Will of 1553 mentions "my house at Danehill"; this was Christopher Fields on Denne Hill. (2). There are other references to Danehill in the Parish of Fletching, and Danehill in the parish of Horsted Keynes, in various legal documents; it was a recognised place.

A hamlet known as Danehill grew up on the green at the bottom of Denne Hill where ancient roadways crossed, roads were to play a significant part in later development. During the last part of the 17th century Giles Moore in his Journal records his visits to the Inn of William Linn at Danehill; carriers and pack horses stopped there on journeys between London and Lewes. (3).
Iron working had ceased in this area by the 18th century; the age of reason, scientific development and industrial revolution, when events took place which would lead to our hamlet becoming a parish.

Main roads ceased to be the responsibility of parishes following various Turnpike Acts, when main roads were privatised, improved and maintained by Trusts; charges or tolls were paid to use the roads. The Lewes to East Grinstead roads passing through Danehill was turnpiked in 1752. Better roads led to important people using them to travel in their coaches to their country estates from town and cities. (4).
John William Holroyd, born in Yorkshire, inherited great wealth from an uncle and added his uncle's name to become Baker Holroyd. He purchased Sheffield Place and Manor, and also the Manor of Meeching (Newhaven)  from the second Lord De La Warr. Baker Holroyd was a Parliamentarian and a good example of a progressive 18th century gentleman. He was later created Earl of Sheffield and he did much to improve agriculture, buying many freehold and copyhold properties within his manors.

The French Revolution had an influence on our story, the Earl of Sheffield sheltered some of the aristocrats who escaped the guillotine; some of the refugees arriving through the port in his Manor of Meeching. One of the aristocrats who escaped was a Count Henri de Bourbel, who later married Mary Spence. (5). A wealthy Lewes merchant, Luke Spence, had purchased Hammings, Huggetts, Newnhams, and Sterresherne, a group of holdings in Fletching. It was Mary, Countess de Bourbel, a granddaughter of Luke, who inherited these Fletching properties.(6).
Our scene changes to distant Calcutta. Many fortunes were made and lost in The East India Company. Warren Hastings was Governor of Bengal in about 1782, when Thomas Henry Davies a lawyer, was appointed Advocate General by the Court of Directors and was awarded 30,000 rupees. The successor to Davies, George Money, was related by marriage to the Spence family.

Advocate General Thomas Henry Davies died in Calcutta in 1792 having accumulated considerable wealth which passed to his three sons:

Thomas Henry Davies, junior, a Grenadier Guardsman, purchased Elmley Castle in Worcestershire in 1822. His godfather was Warren Hastings: the first of two links between the great man and Danehill.

Warburton Davies purchased Woodgate in Fletching from Peter Morley Hutchinson. The 'gentleman's house or hunting lodge' was built by Hutchinson by about 1800 on land he had purchased from the Yeoman and Warnett families. There is some evidence that Hutchinson was a friend of the Earl of Sheffield.

Francis John Davies purchased from Count Henri de Bourbel and Mary his wife the Fletching lands left to Mary by her grandfather Luke Spence. Francis John, also a military man, built a mansion on the old farm lands naming it "Danehurst", (he was convinced that the Danes had fought a battle nearby). The two Davies brothers were able, with their considerable wealth, to buy many surrounding farms in Fletching and Horsted Keynes and, by the time of the Tithe Map of 1840 they held about 1,500  acres each. The Davies brothers had arrived to set up their dynasties in the place that was to become the Parish of Danehill. (7).
By about 1823 a Baptist Chapel had been built in the centre of Danehill, this chapel had quite a following. In 1835 a Chapel of Ease to the Parish Church of Fletching was built on Danehill green, one reason for this may have been some alarm at the growth of non-conformity. The brothers Davies, also influenced this decision, they were weary of the journeys, for themselves and their households, to the parish church of either Fletching or Horsted Keynes. The new church building, known as Holy Trinity Chapel, had two galleries with separate entrances for the families of the Davies brothers from Woodgate and Danehurst.  In 1851 an ecclesiastical parish was formed around Holy Trinity Chapel from the northern part of Fletching and the eastern part of Horsted Keynes. A vicar was appointed to Holy Trinity Chapel and a vicarage was built (8).

In 1864 the Lord of the Manor of Broadhurst enclosed the waste of the manor on Chelwood Common under Parliamentary Enclosure Acts. Small buildings on the enclosed land increased the population and provided employment. Also in 1864 a school was built. Danehill now had most of the requirements of a parish: two mansions with their estates, a Church, vicar, vicarage, Baptist Chapel, and various pubs.

Danehill did not have a railway station; but those at Forest Row, Haywards Heath and later at Sheffield Park and Horsted Keynes had an effect on the development of the area. From the 1880's a number of wealthy people built some large houses in the area, railways made it easy and convenient to travel between town houses and country "seats". Railways also provided links with markets in Lewes and Brighton for the produce from new smallholdings on Chelwood Common. The resultant growth of population and wealth was a factor in the making of the Civil Parish (9).

What of the Davies brothers and their dynasties?

Warburton Davies sold his Woodgate estate and moved to London. 

Later owners of Woodgate were the Corbett family who were to play a significant part in village life. Charles Henry Corbett, barrister and one time MP, was Chairman of the first Parish Council.

Francis John Davies rose to the rank of General before he died in 1874; his son Henry Fanshaw, a guardsman and Lieutenant General, who inherited Elmsley Castle from the estate of his uncle, sold Danehurst and moved to Worcestershire.

Danehurst was purchased by Herbert Carey Hardy, who had recently married Adela Louisa Cassandra Knight,: this is the second link with Warren Hastings and the East India Company. Warren Hastings had a son, George, born in 1735, who was only three years old when his mother died. A close friend of Mr. Hastings, was Mrs Philadelphia Hancock, a sister of George Austen, father of Jane Austen. It was arranged for the child to come to England and be looked after by George and Cassandra Austen, the parents of Jane: the delicate boy died in 1764. Mrs Hancock later had a daughter, Eliza, born in Calcutta, who was a beneficiary of trust fund of £10,000 set up by her godfather, Warren Hastings.

Fans of Jane Austen will be familiar with the character Frank Weston-Churchill in "Emma", who was adopted by a wealthy uncle and aunt and changed his surname in order to inherit their estates. Jane based this episode in "Emma" on events in her own family, her brother, Edward Austin was adopted by relatives and changed his name to Knight on inheriting estates in Chawton, Hampshire, and Goodmershaw in Kent. Chilham Castle in Kent, seat of the Hardy family, was close to the Knight estate. It was not surprising that a younger son Herbert Carey Hardy married the girl next door, Adela Louisa Cassandra Knight. The bride was a granddaughter of Edward Knight, and a great niece of Jane Austen, whose parents had cared for little George Hastings (10).

Herbert Carey and Adela Louisa Cassandra Hardy raised a large family at Danehurst: more farms and lands were purchased, the Hardy family seemed well established in their country seat. Holy Trinity Chapel, now with the Hardy and Corbett galleries, was seriously damaged by fire in 1887. Mr Hardy, witnessing the fire, is reported to have promised 'to build something better'; the building was repaired. Herbert Carey was unable to fulfil his promise, at the age of only forty he died in 1888, as the result of an accident, when visiting his Scottish estate. The widowed Adela built the splendid church of All Saints on the top of "Denne" hill in his memory.

Following the Local Government acts of the 1880's, Guy Hardy, (who had inherited Danehurst and was himself to die at the age of thirty-one), Charles Corbett of Woodgate and other local worthies applied in 1898  to the new East Sussex Council for Danehill to become a Civil Parish.

This outline covers only some of the factors involved in the formation of a new parish, meeting the needs of a growing population.

The name derived from an ancient hundred and place name "Denne", the hill on Denne common resulting in Danehill. The small gathering of houses around the cross roads, serving the need of passing trade along an ancient highway of some importance; now the Lewes/East Grinstead/London road. Turnpiking and road improvement brought along people of wealth and influence to settle in the area. The Earl of Sheffield, Hutchinson, also people like Luke Spence who were investing in land.

Was it a coincidence that some of these people involved in the 19th century development of our area had links with India? In the East India Company, under Warren Hastings, did the Davies, Spence and Austen families form friendships which survived their return to England? From India came the wealth for Warburton Davies to acquire the Woodgate estate. Francis John Davies was able to buy land from the Spence family, some of whom he may have known in India and build Danehurst. Henry Fanshawe Davies sold this estate to Herbert Carey Hardy and his wife, whose family the Austens had links with Warren Hastings.

What has happened to these mansions with their acres of estates?

Woodgate is now home to Cumnor House: the estate was sold to Birch Grove Estates after the untimely death of Mr Adrian Corbett in 1936.

Danehurst is now the nursing home "St Raphaels": after the death of Mr Guy Hardy in 1904, parts of the estate were sold, and the mansion and some of the lands bought by Mr Messell. From 1922 to 1952 the owners were Mr and Mrs Haslam, after their death more of the estate was split up.

Sheffield Park House is divided into apartments: the estate was split up in 1953. 

The large estates are now dispersed; the mansions, whose owners had such an influence on the life of the community are being used for other purposes. The Parish of Danehill continues to expand and develop as more people come to live in this very beautiful part of the Weald, bringing with them, different ideas and standards of comfort: but with the improvement in living conditions we must not lose the sense of belonging to a community. David Etherton, in his article, remembers how close the people in the parish were sixty years ago.
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From Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine Vol. 2 No.9.

SOME NOTES ON JANE AUSTEN'S FAMILY CONNECTIONS
WITH THE VILLAGES OF DANEHILL AND HORSTED KEYNES.

by Margaret Lakin.
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Jane's family connections with Danehill are through her brother Edward, who was adopted by her cousins, the Knights of Godmersham in Kent (later also of Chawton in Hampshire), and who changed his name to Edward Knight; while her family connections with Horsted Keynes are through other cousins of hers, the Austens of Sevenoaks.

To begin with the Austens of Sevenoaks:

Jane's father, George Austen (1731-1805), lost his father William Austen (1701-1737), a surgeon at Tonbridge, when he was only six years old, and his uncle, Francis Austen (1) , a well-to-do attorney of Sevenoaks, took an interest in him and paid for his education. He was to go into the Church. Francis Austen , who acquired the advowsons of several parishes from time to time, later gave his nephew George the living of Deane in Hampshire, to add to the parish of Steventon, which had already been given to him by his cousin Thomas Knight of Godmersham, who held 

        Jane Austen                  the patronage of that parish. No charge of plurality was levelled against him as three of his clerical friends from neighbouring parishes signed joint letters to the Bishop of Winchester, the Lord High Chancellor of England and the Archbishop of Canterbury, stating that the two small parishes adjoined and were no more than two miles apart. In March 1773, Frederick Cornwallis, then Archbishop of Canterbury, signified his approval.

Jane's great uncle married twice. The son of his first wife, an heiress surnamed Motley, was to inherit the property of his parents in Sevenoaks. He was called Francis Motley Austen and was George Austen's first cousin.(2). The son of his second wife, (incidentally Jane's godfather), was to be educated for the Church, and in 1785 he was given the living of Horsted Keynes, the advowson of which his father must have acquired sometime between 1772 and 1785. This son was called Sackville, possibly in honour of the Sackvilles of Knole, to whom, his father was Agent. He appears in the List of Rectors of Horsted Keynes 1785. But he died in 1786 and it is, in fact, doubtful if he ever lived in Horsted Keynes.

However, his brother-in-law, Thomas Lambarde (3), became Rector in 1786 and held the living until it could be given to the next eligible Austen of the Francis Austen line.

This turned out to be The Rev. John Austen, third son of Francis Motley Austen (see above) who became Rector in 1803 and held the living until 1812 when, he being promoted elsewhere, it passed to his younger brother, William Austen, the last Austen to appear in the List of Rectors of Horsted Keynes. William held the living for twenty-eight years from 1812 until 1840 (4).

His children in the Horsted Keynes Parish Register were:-
March 14th 1824 
Elizabeth Matilda 
baptised by J.J. Saint, curate.

April 2nd 1826
Frances Margaretta
baptised by C. Moffat, curate.

Nov. 16th 1828
William. George
baptised by William Austen.  And sadly:
May 13th 1833
William George
buried by Charles Gaunt, officiating Minister.

It is considered most likely that it was William Austen, no doubt aided and advised by his several well-to-do cousins, who was responsible for the alterations to Giles Moore's Rectory, now pulled down.(5). 
Picture of Rectory

THE RECTORY, HORSTED KEYNES.

Thus Jane's family connections with Horsted Keynes 1785-1840: three Rectors; one her father's first cousin and two her second cousins:

Her family connections with Danehill are rather more remote and less ecclesiastical, but none the less, interesting and more lasting.

George Austen, her father, had a second cousin, Jane (nee Monke), whose husband, Thomas Knight of Godmersham Park in Kent, had, as has been described, given him the living of Steventon in Hampshire. Jane and Thomas had one son, Thomas Knight II (1736‑1794). He married Catherine Knatchbull, but they had no children and they generously adopted Edward Austen, Jane's brother, who was their third cousin, to succeed to their property.

Edward changed his name to Knight and went to live with his cousins at Godmersham to learn how to manage a country estate. In 1797, three years after Thomas II's death, his widow Catherine made over their home entirely to Edward. From that time onwards, Jane and other members of her family were often at Godmersham. It powerfully influenced the setting of her novels and much of her writing must have been done while she was staying there.

Edward married and had a large family. His eldest son, also named Edward, had a son called Montague George and a daughter called Adela Louisa Cassandra. Not far from Godmersham in Kent lies Chilham Castle, the home since 1861 of a family named Hardy, and during this third quarter of the 19th Century, Florence Hardy and her brother, Herbert Carey Hardy, must have made friends with the second Edward's children Montague and Adela. The result was a marriage between. Florence and Montague and, more importantly for these notes, another marriage in 1872 between Adela Louisa Cassandra and Herbert Carey Hardy. In about 1875 the latter bought the Danehurst Estate in Danehill from Lt. Gen. Henry Fanshaw Davies, and with his wife, came to live in Danehill. They had a son Guy Charles and he is the grandfather of the present L.C. Hardy who still lives in Danehill, though not at Danehurst. (6)
And so Jane's family connections with Danehill. her great niece Adela Louisa Cassandra Hardy (nee Knight) coming to live in Danehill in the late 1870s and her descendants still living here.

Notes.

(1)     Jane as a young girl in 1788 went with her parents to stay  with her Great‑Uncle Francis in his beautiful
 red‑brick house in the High Street of Sevenoaks. This house built c. 1686 and bought by Francis in 1743 is called The Red House and still stands there today, still tenanted by attorneys/solicitors.

(2)      He inherited the advowson of Horsted Keynes along with the rest of the property on his father's death in 1791.

(3).     The Lambardes were an established Sevenoaks family, and  he had married Anne Lambarde in 1785.

(4).      During this period his father, Francis Motly Austen, acquired  certain properties in Horsted Keynes, which he 
  left to William in his Will. This might even mean that William continued to live in Horsted Keynes after 1840.

(5).    Horsted Keynes Rectory was completed in 1615. Giles Moore saw this date upon the chimneys at the east end 
of the house when he was having it repaired in 1656/57. See "The Journal of Giles Muore Part IV', Vol. 68, Sussex Record Society, edited by Ruth Biird, p.39.

page 21 “Reparations”   “The Last part of the house (beeing as it should seeme by the date upon the Chymneys  built 1615) was by Mee now til’d beautifyd and repair'd 1657: the Particulars of which follow with other Accountables together with the garden new pald.” (paled, i.e. fenced) (sic Ed.) Giles Moore rebuilt the Rectory as above 1656/57. The Austens altered it in the early 19th Century and it was pulled down in 1971. Mrs. Holt found Elizabethan bricks in the structure when it was being pulled down.

(6).     For further reading on the Hardys, see​D.P.H.S. Magazine, Vol. 2, No. 2, p.2 onwards.
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From Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine Vol. 5 No.10.

THE CHAPEL ON CHELWOOD COMMON

by Hylda Rawlings

Victorian readers of The Sussex Express newspaper dated 1st of June 1895 would find on page 9 the following item:‑

"A Church Room for Chelwood Common

It has been in contemplation for a long time, prior indeed, to the building of the new church, [All Saints, Danehill], to make a provision for those Church people who, living at a distance, find a difficulty in attending, save occasionally, the services of the parish church. The Vicar,(1) being single handed in his work and having but little spare time on Sunday away from his duties in Danehill, could not see his way to a regular Sunday service on the Common, nor was there any building suitable for that purpose.

Mr Edward Baker of Chelwood Common, has kindly placed at the Vicar's disposal a disused carpenter’s work-shed and an arrangement has been gladly made in response to the representations of many - who are desirous of having the services and ministrations of the Church of England brought nearer to them. There will be an afternoon service at 3.30 pm except on the last Sunday of the month on which day there are baptisms and a mothers' guild service at the parish church. For that day we trust the Vicar will meet with an offer of help either for the morning or evening service.

The parishioners are well aware that the income for the Vicarage from church sources is too small to admit of payment therefrom for a curate. The services at the beautiful Memorial Church are well attended and appreciated and there are an increased number of communicants."

Mr Edward Baker lived at “Holly House”, Beaconsfield Road and the carpenter's work shed adjoined his house. The shed was used as a church room with an afternoon service on Sunday for two years. In 1897 a Mission Church Room, with an adjoining reading and recreation room, (the nucleus of the present chapel and village hall ), was erected on its present site on the other side of the road (directly opposite to the carpenter's shed). The generous donors of the new Mission Room and Reading Room were Mr Edward Wormold and his wife Annette of “Chelwood Beacon”, “The Beacons” now apartments, previously a Residential Nursing Home). The dedication stone records that the chapel commemorated Edward and Annette's Silver Wedding and Queen Victoria's Diamond Jubilee.

As well as Mission Halls, Reading Rooms were increasingly being provided by benevolent gentry in a great many towns and villages. Local cottages were small and, for the most part, overcrowded and overflowing with couples, their numerous children and adult dependents. Men, tired after a days hard manual labour, would escape to the pub and there spend too high a portion of their meagre wages on drink, in consequence of which they and their families were further impoverished. Young single men, living at home or lodging in one of these cottages would have no room of their own for reading or study.

To go to the Reading Room which had seating accommodation, tables, heating and also provided free newspapers and books of “improving literature” became a practical and effectual alternative to an evening spent in the pub. The doctrines of self‑help and temperance were being widely advocated by members of the gentry - most ardently by the ladies.

Horsted Keynes is notable that the Misses Rodwell, having failed to attract enough young men to join their Temperance Club, changed it to “A Moderate Drinkers Club” (2)
In January 1907, Sir Clarke Jervoise, who had succeeded the Wormold's at Chelwood Beacon instructed Messrs Isaac Waters & Sons, builders of Forest Row, to draw up plans to build a Chancel Arch, Sanctuary and Vestry on to the east end of the Mission Room. Uckfield Rural District Council approved the plans and so the little Mission Church was enlarged and beautified. (3)
Chelwood Gate residents loved and were proud of their simple, welcoming little church and through the years it received additional gifts. On the February 1st 1914 there was Candlemas at 3 pm. Two large brass candlesticks, subscribed and given in memory of the Rev. J. G. Norton, Curate of Danehill, who had taken most of the services at Chelwood Gate, were used for the first time.

On All Saints Day, the 1 st November 1914 there was a dedication of Chancel Lamps given in memory of Marion Bishop Summers.

A hymn number board with brass plaque to Llyal Marcus Neale killed on the 21st of December 1917 and a brass plate commemorating Gilbert Deacon, killed the 1st April 1918. Two local men who fell in the Great War.

Later a framed bronze relief of “The Last Supper” was given by Mrs Beachcroft of “The Sun House”, in memory of her husband Major Maurice Beachcroft. He had bought the relief when he was at Oxford. Although he was not a regular worshipper at the little chapel he enjoyed occasionally to read the lesson there.

The earliest Service, or Preacher Book(4) as it was then called, to survive begins in 1912 when The Rev. Summers was Vicar and The Rev. Norton was Curate. It mostly records routine matters, date, year, time of service, name of the priest or preacher, text or subject of the sermon, records of baptisms, churching of women, confirmation classes and occasional comments.

The 5th Sunday in Lent 1913 has the comment, “A large congregation twenty two present, collection 2s 5d.”

March 1913. On Friday died in Brighton Hospital The Rev. J. G. Norton, Curate of Danehill for eleven years.

August 23rd 1914, 3 pm service. Intercession War!, G[rea]t European Offertory for Service Wounded. 12 shillings collected.

April 15th 1917, 8 am. There were five people present but owing to the Celebrant having lost his way H.C. was celebrated at 3 pm. A.C.Cragg.

October 14th 1917, 3 pm. Died this morning W.Summers, Vicar.

November 10th 1918, 3 pm. News of abdication of the German Emperor.

November 17th 1918, 3 pm. Thanksgiving for the End of War. 10s 5d collected “For the Blind”.

After 1918 there are very few general remarks and only the objects of special collections entered. Twice it is noted that the priest was the only one to arrive for the 8 am service,

1933, The 3rd Sunday after Trinity, 7 pm. A Toc H Rally, Culbert Williams celebrated Holy Communion. Congregation numbered 49, £1.0.7d collected.

21st January 1936, 6.30 Evening Prayer. Death of King George V.

26th August 1936, 3 pm. Preacher Charles Stepney, Bradfield College Mission, Boys Club, Camberwell. Members of the Lion Club Hoxted (King's College London). Noted under remarks “117 Boys & 20 adults seated in the Church”. If this took place in the Mission Church this was a miracle! Did they perhaps hold the service at the Isle of Thorns? This was then a holiday camp

for boys.

This Preachers Book finishes with an entry for the 3rd Sunday after Trinity 1939, Evening Prayer 6 pm. The number of the congregation was not given, 8s 11 d is collected.

Residents in the parish of Danehill are very fortunate for they have two beautiful churches. All Saints Church on Danehill imposing and strong. The interior crammed with treasures. Fine stained glass windows, a magnificent organ, (given by Mr Wormold), solid oak pews., the rather dark interior brought to life by the gold and bright colours of the reredos; truly an outstanding Victorian church.

In complete contrast there is the little church at Chelwood Gate. Light wood chairs not pews, a simple altar, clear glass in the windows.

When you see the trees through the lancet windows behind the altar making patterns against the light, you realise the beauty in the simplicity of this tiny church.

Both churches have now reached their centenaries, they are still loved and well looked after. The Victorians who gave them to us would, 1 feel, be well pleased to see them looking so cared for.

My thanks are due to my husband., Mr P.G.Lucas; Mrs J. .Greatrex and Mrs G.Y Rolfe for the information they have given me.

1. The Rev. Waiter Summers.

2. DHPS Magazine Vol.2 No. 12.

3. ESRO Reference DW/A5/811260.

4. ESRO Reference PAR/303131211.

-----ooOoo-----

THE DANEHILL BAPTIST CHAPEL 
(ROBERTS WARREN)

FromdDanehill Parish Historical Society Magazine Vol.1 No. 10. April 1980
“HE WHO WOULD VALLIANT BE….”

The Story of the Strict Baptists of Danehill by Hylda Rawlings

Tucked away in the front garden of Christopher Fields (Church Lane, Danehill) is a tiny brick building which, though small and inconspicuous, has played an important part in the history of our parish. This little building was erected as our first non-conformist chapel, later became a school-house and later still the Victorian equivalent of a 'granny flat’. Another time we hope to narrate the story of Christopher Fields and the further uses of this little building, but for the purposes of this article we wil1 deal with the chapel and its successor in Danehill village  - the account of the little band of pioneers who laid the foundation of the non-conformist movement in this district.

On the 16th day of May 1806, James Langridge of Fletching in the county of Sussex, yeoman, made his will in which he bequeathed to his son James Langridge of Newick, wheelwright, his house and lands called ‘Christopher’s Field' “where I now dwell”, and to his son William Langridge his 'Customary Cottage and small piece of land at Danehill in the Parish of Horsted Keynes' (5) on the map). The joint Executors were named as Richard Bax of Chailey, yeoman (the testator's brother-in-law) and Peter Wells of ‘Hurstperpoint’, Shop- keeper. Except for the bequests already mentioned, the remainder of the estate was placed in their trust for the education and maintenance of his daughter Hannah. When she became twenty-one £100 was to be paid to William Langridge and the balance to be shared equally between the three daughters 'Elizabeth the Wife of William Browning (Landlord of the 'Red Lion', now The White House No.29 on map), Mary the Wife of William Holford and Hannah Langridge (1). The Will is duly signed, and witnessed by John Wood, Amos Tulley and Peter Penfold. A very business-like, straightforward Will.

However, five months later on September the 12th, James Langridge added a codicil, which reads as follows: “I further give and bequith to the Perticklar Baptist Church (* Danehill  became an ecclesiastical parish in 1851.) assembling at Forest Row under the Pastoral Care of Joseph Terry and James Langridge. The sole Use of that litle Building witch I have built for the Publick Worship of God standing in my Garden in the Front of my House sittuate at Dane Hill in the Parish of Fletching joining the Turnpike Road. To have and to hold for the Publick Preaching of the Gosple so long as there shall be a perticlor Baptist Church at Row maintaining three equal Persons in the Godhead Eternall and personable Election to Holyness here and eternall Life hereafter” .., (he continues for several more sentences giving the doctrines of his faith)… and then “It is my Will  and Pleasure that they shall have the Liberty to inlarge the above Building 10 or 12 Feet to the Westward if required at the Church Expence and the Church to keep the aforesaid Building in Repair during the Time there shall be a Church at Forest Row paying yearly the Sum of five Shillings to my Heirs or Assines….”

His signature is witnessed by Jas Terry, Henry Uridge, Daniel Jackson and William Holford.

By the deterioration in the spelling and the totally different style the codicil was obviously not written by the one who penned the main Will. It is also apparent that between the months of May and November James Langridge had had deep religious experience.

The Will and Codicil were proved on the 13th day of November 1806 by the Executors Richard Bax and Peter Wells.

The faithful little band of friends and kinsmen of the Langridge family, led by James Langridge the younger, “met regularly and were content to carry an in this humble way, hardly expecting to see any strange faces in their midst.”  But four years later in 1810 a most exciting event happened to alter completely the lives of the little community. A young man (aged 29) called William Roberts came to the village to look for work. He was sti11 officially a serving soldier, having been pressed into the army eleven years previously. As a soldier, he had travelled, served in Ireland during the Rebellion and “as a stranger to God and Godliness he had drank deeply of the cup of sin until the Lord in his grace stopped him in his mad career! ”. (2)
Why did Roberts come to look for work in Danehill? Perhaps he knew or was related to one of the little flock. At any rate, he was very soon eagerly welcomed, obtained lodgings in the village and was asked to preach at the little chapel. He was so persuasive and eloquent that many people came to hear him and the little chapel could not contain the number of People attracted, and eventually the meetings had to be held in a local barn.

The Baptists at Danehill asked him to stay with them as their minister and they collected enough money among themselves to obtain his discharge from the Army.

The sect was still very poor; there was no prospect of paying William Roberts a regular stipend. How then was he to live and continue his work?

In 1815 William Langridge conveyed the cottage in Danehill (5) Village left to him by his father to his brother-in-law William Browning who, in 1822, transferred it to William Roberts, and the latter was officially appointed pastor of the Strict Baptists in Danehill on the 28th May 1815. It is possible that he had already moved into the cottage by that time. At any rate, in 1823 he surrendered it to a group of trustees to hold as a chapel and meeting house. They built the chapel on one side of the cottage (4 on the map) and added a shop on the other to provide a source of income for their minister.

In 1834 a second chapel was founded at Newick and William Roberts was pastor of both. He held services at Danehill on Sunday mornings and in the afternoon and evenings at Newick. (2)
William Roberts stayed until 1843 when he left to work at Deal. His successor to the combined chapels was John Poynder (from near Huddersfield) who was to be here for seven years. Early in his ministry the Old Church book from the Newick. chapel notes: “..It was agreed that an evening service be held at Newick and that the brass chandelier should be removed from Danehill on the understanding that if it was wanted it should be returned”.

Joseph Warren, who came to Danehill (after an interregnum) in 1853, was the last resident pastor. When he left, the chapel became dependant on supply preachers; the congregation gradually dwindled and the chapel was used less and less. Up to twenty years ago an occasional service took place, but finally the chapel door was closed and the chapel stood empty.

It was sold to Mr and Mrs Turner who already owned Danehill Stores. They obtained permission to convert the chapel building into a private house for their use. When they left the district the stores and cottage (5) were bought by Mr and Mrs Dowling, and Chapel Cottage (4) by Mr and Mrs Bailey, who re-named their property “Roberts Warren” after the first and last resident pastors.

The information for this article has been largely obtained from:

(1)
The will of James Langridge. E.S.R.O. A69.pp. 820-30

(2)
“The Strict Baptist Chapels of England” by Ralph F. Chambers. Vol.2  P 108-10.

(3)
The Court Books of the Manor of Broadhurst/Horsted Keynes. E.S.R.O. Glynde.

-----ooOoo-----

Extract from Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazine Vol. 2 No.4 April 1983

The following reports on the 'Danehill Case' were taken from copies of the "Sussex Agricultural Express" dated 15th  May, 1852 ‑ Editor.

DANEHILL

THE CHAPEL The extraordinary scenes that have lately been enacted at the Baptist Chapel are at length brought to a close (see the Cuckfield bench report) and for the sake of the respectability of the neighbourhood it is well they are so for it has raised the village an unenviable notoriety for miles around. On the 25th April the forcible ejection of Mr. Poinder from the pulpit took place that gave rise to the proceedings before the Cuckfield magistrates, and there being every reason to suppose that the same scene would be re-enacted on the following Sunday, Col. Davis desired Capt. Bolton E.S.C. to attend with a sufficient police force to stay a riot, and accordingly five officers were placed on duty to watch the proceedings in a place of worship. From six in the morning, the place was besieged, an unlicensed preacher had ascended the pulpit, and the party amused themselves by singing hymns until between ten and eleven, when Mr. Poinder made his appearance and took up a position at the bottom of the pulpit stairs. An indescribable scene occurred, for as soon as the party gave out a hymn, the opposite party would give out a counter one, thus by singing against each other making discordant and hideous noises that were a disgrace to a place of worship. There was no service, and the warfare was ended by one side reading from an Act of Parliament, and the other from an agreement, or something of the kind, respecting the rules of the church, but little was understood by those around of the matter.

On last Sunday the scene was more peaceful, and we found only two police officers parading in part of the chapel, an old sow feeding in the yard, and the congregation in full force singing, they having been at it since eight o'clock. This was about eleven. On walking into the chapel, we found an old man, an agricultural labourer, but who has taken out a license to preach during the week, placed in the pulpit, dressed in a rusty looking round frock. Mr. Poinder was standing at the foot of the pulpit stairs and a person was perched on them to prevent his ascending. The chapel was filled, but it was evident, from observations that fell from parties around us, that the greatest part were drawn together by curiosity, and not from a desire to worship. The person in the pulpit made a kind of address, but it was somewhat extravagant and a farmer observed to us that he might as well put up his old sheep dog. After some more singing, as they called it, but it was outrageously ridiculous, it was announced that there would be no service in the afternoon; and the parties went their way. Some time since, the windows were missing from the chapel, and after a time found in the dipping hole, the lock of which they had forced, and various other indignities were practised, repulsive to a well ordered mind, and the cowardly insults and annoyances towards Mr. Poinder were disgraceful, for let the faults of the reverend gentleman be what they may, it is an unmanly mode of resentment. Happily these squabbles are ended, and we hope, as Mr. Norman said on the bench, to hear no more of them.
-----ooOoo-----

ESRO Microfilm XA 28/18  Sussex Agricultural Express. May 15 1852

Cuckfield Petty Session May 10.

Present; J.N. Norman Esq, Chairman, N. Borrer & J.H. Slater, Jun, Esquires

THE DANEHILL CASE

Poinder v Gibbs. 

Mr. Langham of Uckfield for complainant, Mr. Black of Brighton for defendant.

Mr. Langham stated that this was a case of assault arising out of the following circumstances. Mr. Poinder had been Minister of the Baptist Church at Danehill and Newick for seven or eight years, and some dissatisfaction having manifested itself some months ago, led to disunion among them, and several of the congregation left the Chapel at Danehill, and established themselves in another place of worship, but after a time came back and commenced a number of annoyances against Mr. Poinder that led to the proceedings.

On Sunday 25th April Mr. Poinder, as pastor, went to open the Chapel but found it had been forced and a person occupying the pulpit and preventing him going there. They were holding a service, he waited for the singing to finish and then started to go up the steps of the pulpit. He was pinioned by three persons and taken back. He then called Mr. Huggett, one of the deacons for assistance but he too was assaulted by the defendant and Benjamin Newnham. The person in the pulpit had previously left the Chapel and took it on himself to return and oust the regular minister.

Sworn Evidence of the Rev: John Poinder. “I am minister of the Baptist Chapels of Danehill and Newick and have been for eight years. The congregations of both chapels form one body and take part of the proceedings in each Chapel” (He then retells going to the chapel and being assaulted) "The defendant was assisted in the assault by Henry Elsey and Thomas Langridge. After the assault, in which the banisters of the pulpit was broken, a constable was called and drew his staff “……………….”The man in the pulpit was Lashmer Sherlock who was not an ordained minister and at that time was not a licenced preacher. He may have conducted a prayer meeting during the time I was Minister but no more. I (Rev. Poinder) am a regularly ordained Baptist Minister …………….”I do not produce the agreement for which you have given notice and decline to do so. I have received no notice to give up the Chapel. I certainly received a paper from two persons one was a deacon, 1 do not acknowledge the other. This man pushed me down the pulpit steps ……….James Sherlock and Benjamin Newnham came to my house in June 1851 and left a paper. I did not look at it and threw it out the window. James Sherlock was not a member of my church I had no reason to think the paper was notice to leave the church. By their action under the rules of the church they have excommunicated themselves".

(Summary)

A deed of purchase and a copy of surrender from the Court Rolls of Horsted Keynes Manor were put in; admitting Thomas Moon, R. Stevens, William Elliott, Lashmer Sherlock and two others as tenants in trust of certain copyhold properties, the site of Danehill Chapel. The man in the pulpit was Lashmer Sherlock. The Rev: Poinder stated he had received pay from both places up to yesterday but there was no collection at Danehill but there had been in November and February last. He had sent his two deacons to Lashmer Sherlock offering to come to an agreement.

The magistrate hoped the parties would come to some agreement.

The court was crowded and afterwards the parties held a meeting downstairs to which a reporter was called and was told that the parties had come to an amicable agreement and the other summons pending on the case was withdrawn. Mr. Poinder to have the free use of the Chapel in May and to preach a farewell sermon on the last Sunday after which he would leave.

-----ooOoo-----

ESRO Microfilm XA 28/18.   Sussex Agricultural Express. 22nd of May 1852

DANEHILL. The Baptist Chapel

Dear Sir,

The Church or Society assembling at Danehill Chapel, utterly averse to entering into an angry discussion with their late pastor, would have passed unobserved the paragraph headed 'Danehill', in the Express of the 15th instant, had not the parties attempted by glaring falsehoods to make the matter appear “confusion worse confounded”.

An eye witness of the whole, wishes to inform the public that the whole circumstances is greatly misrepresented, and would refer any person desiring to know the truth, as what did occur to the constable of the parish, who was present on the first Sunday, or to his predecessor who was present on the two succeeding Sundays, and any member of another church feeling desirous to be informed why such proceedings were adopted, may apply to the deacons of the church who will produce minutes of the resolutions of the Church. And other circumstances, which will, I presume, account for such a method of taking possession.

Here, we wish the matter to rest, and shall not, after such reference, feel ourselves bound to answer any further statements that may be made, whether abusive or otherwise; but once. or all, request the public if in any doubt should arise as to which gives a truthful version, to be guided by plain evidence given, or which will be given if required, on the veracity of disinterested eyewitnesses, rather than by anonymous writers.

I am etc,   Richard Pannett, Wood Brooks, Chailey. May15th 1852

(Our Correspondent seems to imagine the phrase “if any doubt should arise which gives a true version” that he has given a version of the matter - a point in which he is entirely deceived).
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